# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

# NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC

Appellant,

VS.

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 2227 SHADOW CANYON,

Case No. 70382

Electronically Filed Oct 07 2016 10:34 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

# APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department VII The Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Judge District Court Case No. A-14-702938-C

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8276 ALLISON R. SCHMIDT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10743 AKERMAN LLP 1160 Town Center Drive, Suite 330 Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 Telephone: (702) 634-5000

Attorneys for Appellant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC

#### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under NEV. R. APP. P. 3A(b)(1). The District Court entered judgment in favor of Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon on April 4, 2016, and the notice of entry of that order was entered on April 8, 2016. The judgment finally resolved all claims among the parties before the District Court. Appellant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC timely filed its notice of appeal on May 6, 2016.

#### **APPELLANT'S STATEMENT REGARDING ROUTING**

Pursuant to NEV. R. APP. P. 28(a)(5), Appellant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC (**Nationstar**) states that this case raises questions of statewide public importance, as the principal issues raised on appeal include: (1) whether NRS 116.3116 (as it existed before amendments went into effect in October 2015) is unconstitutional; and (2) whether Nevada should expressly adopt the Restatement approach and hold that grossly inadequate foreclosure sales may be vacated by the district courts without further/additional analysis.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

(1) Whether the association's sale of the subject property for approximately 10% of the value of the subject property should be set aside as commercially unreasonable where the HOA was aware of the market value of the property at the time of the lien foreclosure sale?

(2) Whether the association's improper foreclosure on violation fines renders the sale void.

(3) Whether NRS 116 is facially unconstitutional under the Due Process Clause?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a dispute over the effect of a homeowners association's foreclosure sale of property to Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon (**Saticoy Bay**). The association improperly foreclosed on a superpriority *and* violation lien, selling the Property to for \$35,000, or approximately 10% of the Property's value - which was known to the HOA at the time of the foreclosure sale.

Saticoy now contends that it owns the property free and clear of Nationstar's senior deed of trust. Despite the grossly inadequate sales price and impermissible foreclosure on a violation fees, the District Court agreed with Saticoy Bay, holding that, *inter alia*, the foreclosure deed recitals were conclusive as to the validity of the foreclosure. That judgment should be reversed.

The vast divergence of the sales price at the foreclosure sale and the actual value of the property – which was known to the HOA at the time of foreclosure, as well as other factors indicating a lack of good faith in conduct of the sale, the foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law and, thus, void.

Second, the foreclosure sale was void because it was conducted in violation of express Nevada law which prohibits recovery on violation liens by foreclosure. The District Court's order did not even address this defect.

Lastly, Nationstar is entitled to summary judgment because NRS 116, et seq., the HOA foreclosure statute, is facially unconstitutional because it does not mandate that mortgagees receive actual notice of HOA foreclosure sales.

# **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### I. <u>Factual Background</u>

#### A. Nationstar's Lien on the Property

On February 7, 2006, Pulte Mortgage, LLC recorded a deed of trust, encumbering real property located at 2227 Shadow Canyon Drive, Henderson, Nevada 89044 (the **Property**). (AA029). The Deed of Trust secures a loan in the amount of \$350,000.00. *Id*.

On September 28, 2011, the deed of trust and underlying note were assigned to Bank of America, N.A. (AA048). Later, on September 27, 2013, the deed of trust and underlying note were assigned to Nationstar Mortgage, LLC. (AA051).

#### **B.** The Association's Lien and Foreclosure

The Property is governed by the Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions of the Sun City Anthem Community Association (the **HOA**).

On April 16, 2010, the agent of the HOA, Red Rock Financial Services (**HOA Trustee**), recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien against the Property. (AA054). The Lien stated that the total amount due to the HOA was \$771.00. (*Id.*). Further, the Lien stated that it included late fees, interest, fines/violations and collection fees and costs. (*Id.*). The Lien did not specify what portion of the Lien had super-priority over the senior Deed of Trust. (*Id.*).

On June 24, 2010, the HOA Trustee recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell, (AA056). The Notice of Default stated the total amount due to the HOA was \$2,057.18. (*Id.*). The Notice of Default did not specify what portion of the Lien had super-priority over the senior Deed of Trust. (*Id.*). Contrary to law, the Notice of Default was not signed by the association president or person designated in the Covenants Codes & Restrictions of the HOA. (*Id.*).

On November 26, 2013, the HOA Trustee recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale. (AA058). The Notice of Sale stated that the amount due *as of the date of the execution of the Notice of Sale* was \$8,005.16. (*Id.*). Contrary to law, the Notice of Sale failed to specify the amount due and owing on the lien as of the date of the

proposed sale. (*Id.*). The Notice of Sale did not specify what portion of the Lien had super-priority over the senior Deed of Trust. (*Id.*).

On February 2, 2014, the HOA Trustee recorded a Foreclosure Deed, stating the Property was sold at a foreclosure sale held on January 2, 2014 – more than three years after the lien was recorded. (AA061). The foreclosure deed indicates the value of the property to be \$269,060.00 and the sales price of the property to Saticoy Bay was \$35,000. (AA063).

At her deposition, the NRS 30(b)(6) witness for the HOA Trustee, Julia Thompson, testified that violation fines were included in the amounts disbursed to the HOA on its lien following the sale. (AA077-AA082).

#### C. The Association's Knowledge of the Market Value of the Property

On March 25, 2011 the HOA was advised by the HOA trustee that comparable property values were \$255,000, \$250,000, and \$263,000 and that a first deed of trust in the amount of \$350,000 encumbered the property. (AA068).

On October 15, 2013 the HOA was *again* advised by the HOA trustee that comparable property values were \$320,000, \$295,000, and \$300,000 and that a first deed of trust in the amount of \$350,000 encumbered the property. (AA069).

On October 14, 2013, the HOA Trustee obtained an online property valuation showing the subject property to be worth \$301.292.00. (AA070). Also

on October 14, 2013, the HOA Trustee obtained the Clark County Assessment records, valuing the subject property at \$249,389.00. (AA074).

Nationstar retained an expert to opine as to the value of the property as of the date of foreclosure. The expert, who was unrebutted, concluded that the value of the property at the time of foreclosure was \$335,000.00. (AA102).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*; NRCP 56(c). All evidence and inferences must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party on a summary judgment motion. *Safeway*, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. <u>The Sales Price of the Property at a 90% Discount Was Commercially</u> <u>Unreasonable as a Matter of Law.</u>

The district court erred by granting summary judgment despite evidence establishing material questions of fact as to whether the HOA's foreclosure was conducted in a commercially unreasonable manner. The HOA Lien Statute requires that HOA foreclosure sales be commercially reasonable, stating that "every contract or duty governed by this chapter imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement." NRS 116.1113. The drafters of this section defined good faith as follows:

[g]ood faith . . . means observance of two standards: 'honesty in fact,' and observance of reasonable standards of fair dealing. While the term is not defined, [it is] derived from and used in the same manner as . . . Sections 2-103(i)(b) and 7-404 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act § 1-113 cmt. (1982). Nevada's version of the UCC defines "good faith" as "honesty in fact and the observance of *reasonable commercial standards* of fair dealing." NRS 104.1201(2)(t) (emphasis added).

Nevada courts have confirmed that this commercial reasonableness standard applies to the disposition of collateral. *See, e.g., Jones v. Bank of Nev.*, 91 Nev. 368, 373, 535 P.2d 1279, 1282 (1975). Likewise, courts in other states interpreting the same provision at issue here, Uniform Act § 1-113, have held that the disposition of real property must be commercially reasonable. *Will v. Mill Condo. Owners' Ass'n*, 848 A.2d 336, 340 (Vt. 2004) ("Although the rules generally applicable to real estate mortgages do not impose a commercial reasonableness standard on foreclosure sales, the [Uniform Act] does provide for this additional layer of protection.").

Granting superpriority to nominal HOA liens over substantial senior deeds of trust "represents a 'significant departure from existing practice." *SFR Invs.*, 334 P.3d at 412 (quoting the official comments to the Uniform Act § 1-116). However, NRS 116.1113's requirement that the foreclosure of these superpriority liens be commercially reasonable serves to protect first deed of trust holders from unreasonable foreclosures. In this case, two main questions of material fact exist relating to whether the HOA followed reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing.

#### A. The Sale Price was Grossly Inadequate

Here, questions of material fact surround the commercial reasonableness of the foreclosure sale of the property for a mere 10% of the fair market value of the property, *i.e.* \$35,000 out of \$335,000. Under Nevada law, a commercially reasonable sale should reflect a calculated effort to promote a sales price equitable to both the debtor and to the secured creditor. As this Court has explained, the "quality of the publicity, the *price obtained at the auction*, [and] the number of bidders in attendance" are also factors to consider when analyzing the commercial reasonableness of a public sale. *Dennison v. Allen Grp. Leasing Corp.*, 110 Nev. 181, 186, 871 P.2d 288, 291 (1994) (emphasis added).

Importantly, it is well-settled under Nevada law that "a wide discrepancy between the sale price and the *value of the collateral* compels close scrutiny into

the commercial reasonableness of the sale." *Levers v. Rio King Land & Inv. Co.*, 93 Nev. 95, 98, 560 P.2d 917, 920 (1977) (emphasis added); *see also Iama Corp. v. Wham*, 99 Nev. 730, 736, 669 P.2d 1076, 1079 (1983); *Jones*, 91 Nev. at 368. Such close scrutiny is surely required here, where a deliberately ill-defined interest in property securing a \$350,000 loan sold for \$35,000.

Courts analyzing the commercial reasonableness of foreclosure sales have either voided such sales or refused to grant summary judgment in favor of the foreclosing party where the discrepancy between the sales price and the value of the secured property was much less egregious than the present case. For example, in *Iama Corp.*, this Court reversed a trial court's finding that a sale of collateral was conducted in a commercially reasonable manner. 99 Nev. at 737. Central to the Court's decision was the sales price: 25.1% or roughly a fourth of the fair market value. *Id.* at 736. This Court again held that "such a discrepancy compels close scrutiny into the commercial reasonableness of the sale" and then carefully considered whether proper notice was given, whether the bidding was competitive, and whether the sale was conducted pursuant to the sheriffs office's normal procedures. Id. Ultimately, the Court set aside the sale because the seller's preforeclosure conduct had detrimentally affected the price at auction. Id. at 736-37.

This Court also squarely addressed the inferences to be drawn from a grossly inadequate sales price yet again in *Shadow Wood*, 366 P.3d at 1110-12. This Court

favorably quoted the rule from the Third Restatement of Property that while "[g]ross inadequacy cannot be precisely defined in terms of a specific percentage of fair market value[, g]enerally ... a court is warranted in invalidating a sale where the price is *less than 20 percent* of fair market value." *Id.* at 1112 (quoting Restatement (Third) of Property, Mortgages, § 8.3 cmt. b (1997))(emphasis added).

In a similar case applying the Uniform Act, the Vermont Supreme Court likewise voided a commercially unreasonable foreclosure sale where a property with a fair market value of \$70,000.00 was sold to satisfy an HOA lien of \$3,510.10. *Will*, 848 A.2d at 338-40. That court explained that a foreclosing HOA bears the burden to prove the foreclosure was commercially reasonable. *Id.* at 342. The party conducting the sale also "must make a good faith effort to maximize the value of collateral," and "have a reasonable regard for the debtor's interest." *Id.* The court voided that sale because the condominium sold for 15% of its value and there was only one bid on the property. *See id.* These facts made the sale commercially unreasonable, and so the court vacated summary judgment and voided the sale. *Id.* at 343.

Here, the HOA sold the Property for \$35,000—just 10% of the unrebutted fair market value of the property at the time of the sale. Therefore, the HOA foreclosure in this case falls well within the bounds of what this Court has identified as grossly inadequate, raising the inference that the HOA failed to "t[ake] steps to insure the best possible price would be obtained for the benefit of the debtor." *Levers*, 93 Nev. at 99, 560 P.2d at 920 (holding that the party failed to meet its burden to show that the sale was commercially reasonable).

# B. The HOA's Conduct Demonstrates Fraud, Unfairness or Oppression

Because the sales price was grossly inadequate as a matter of law, Nationstar was not required to show any evidence of "fraud, unfairness or oppression: in the sale. *Shadow Wood*, 366 P.3d at 1110-12. Nonetheless, the HOA and HOA Trustee's knowledge of the fair market value of the property at the time of the foreclosure sale, combined with their failure to obtain a sales price even close to fair market value demonstrates bad faith. Despite researching the fair market value of the property, the HOA sold the property at a 90% discount. This does not reflect "a calculated effort to promote a sales price that is equitable to both the debtor and the secured creditor." *Dennison v. Allen Group Leasing Corp.*, 110 Nev. 181, 186, 871 P.2d 288, 291 (Nev. 1994).

Further, the fact that the foreclosure sale took place more than 3 years after the lien became due, in violation of NRS 116.3116(5), and that the lien expressly contained violation fines, which cannot be foreclosed upon pursuant to NRS 116.31162(6). Additionally, the notice of sale did not contain the amount necessary to satisfy the lien *as of the date of the proposed sale*, in violation of NRS 116.311635(3)(a), and, the Notice of Default and Election to Sell was not signed "by the person designated in the CC&Rs to do so, or if no person is designated, by the HOA president" in violation of NRS 116.31162(2). (AA058-059). The HOA foreclosed on a lien that was extinguished due to the statutory time bar, and also a violation lien that could not be foreclosed upon as a matter of law. Foreclosing in violation of the plain language of the foreclosure statute further represents "fraud, oppression and unfairness" in the sale.

This Court's recent decision in *Shadow Wood* affirmed that district courts must consider these equities when addressing HOA foreclosure sales. 366 P.3d at \*1110-12. In *Shadow Wood*, this Court considered it proper for the district court to develop the factual record in order to "assess the competing equities." *See id.* at 1112-14. Specifically, this Court held that summary judgment could not be granted on the bank's quiet title claim because the district court needed to develop, among other things, what the additional fees and costs claimed by the HOA represented and whether they were reasonable. *Id.* 

The situation is similar here, where the district court appeared to not even consider these facts in determining whether or not the foreclosure was commercially reasonable. Where the quality of Saticoy Bay's title is only as good as the HOA's lien and the process it used to foreclose on that lien, these unanswered questions regarding the HOA's demands and its refusal of tender make

summary judgment improper. The district court's assertion that Nationstar should bear the burden of the HOA's bad faith requires reversal.

# II. <u>The Foreclosure is Void Because the HOA Impermissibly Foreclosed on</u> <u>Violation Fines.</u>

Nevada law requires an HOA to account separately for violations and assessments. See NRS 116.310315. Here, it is unrefuted that the HOA impermissibly foreclosed on violation fines. (AA077-AA082). Saticoy Bay had notice of this defect in the sale when it purportedly purchased the property at the HOA foreclosure sale because the foreclosure notices expressly state that they contain violation fines. (AA054 stating "This amount includes assessments, late fees, interest, fines/violations and collection fees and costs."). The foreclosure sale on these violation was conducted in violation of NRS 116.31162(5). Thus the sale is void, Saticoy Bay is entitled to a refund of its purchase funds, and title to the property must be restored to the manner in which it existed prior to the improper foreclosure sale. The Court erred in failing to address this defect in the sale altogether.

# III. <u>The HOA Lien Statute Is Facially Unconstitutional Under the Due</u> <u>Process Clause.</u>

The district court's judgment should be reversed because the provisions of the HOA Lien Statute that applied before the 2015 amendments are facially unconstitutional under the Due Process Clauses of the Nevada and U.S. Constitutions. The HOA Lien Statute did not mandate actual notice to a deed of trust holder prior to an HOA's foreclosure. Rather, the HOA Lien Statute impermissibly required those with a security interest on a Nevada property potentially subject to an HOA lien to "opt-in" to their constitutional protections by requesting notice prior to the HOA's foreclosure—a requirement that fails to provide the mandatory notice guaranteed by the Due Process Clause. As such, the HOA Lien Statute is invalid on its face.<sup>1</sup>

The district court erred by dismissing the constitutional challenges, finding that the state actor requirement was not met. (AA753-754). The district court overlooked specific statutory provisions that the Legislature found it necessary to amend in 2015 in order to ensure the constitutionally guaranteed notice. S.B. 306 (Nev. 2015). Other courts' interpretations of the pre-amendment HOA Lien Statute confirm the Legislature's decision to correct it and persuasively indicate that the pre-amendment statute violated constitutional guarantees of due process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Nationstar's purported loss of a property interest pursuant to the HOA Lien Statute resulted from state action, and thus requires application of the Due Process Clause. *See, e.g., Culbertson v. Leland*, 528 F.2d 426, 432 (9th Cir. 1975) (holding that operation of innkeeper's lien statute that permitted non-judicial seizure to be state action); *J.D. Construction v. IBEX Int'l Group*, 126 Nev. 366, 376, 240 P.3d 1033, 1040 (2010) ("A mechanic's lien is a 'taking' in that the property owner is deprived of a significant property interest, which entitles the property owner to federal and state due process."); *see also id.* at 376, 240 P.3d at 1041 (*citing Connolly Develop., Inc. v. Sup. Ct. of Merced Cnty.*, 553 P.2d 637, 644 (Cal. 1976)).

*See Bourne Valley Court Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA*, \_\_\_ F.3d \_\_\_\_, 2016 WL 4254983 at \*3-5 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2016).

# A. The HOA Lien Statute Is Facially Unconstitutional because it Does not Ensure Notice and an Opportunity to be Heard Prior to the Elimination of Property Rights.

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