1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641 <u>mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com</u> LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 140 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/respondent SUPREME	COURT	Electronically Filed Nov 08 2016 08:39 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme 0	a.m.
9	501 KLWIL	COOKI		
10	STATE OF	NEVADA		
11	NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,			
12		No. 70382		
13	Appellant,			
14	VS.			
15	SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 2227 SHADOW CANYON,			
16 17	Shindow chivion,			
17 18	Respondent.			
10				
20	RESPONDENT'S AN	SWERING BRIEF	<u>-</u>	
21				
22	Michael F. Bohn, Esq. Law Office of

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

The amendment to NRS Chapter 104 made in 2005 placed the current

definition of "good faith" in Nevada's Uniform Commercial Code in NRS 104.1201(2)(t). NRS 104.1102 expressly provides that Article 1 of the Uniform Commercial Code "applies to a transaction to the extent that is governed by another Article of the Uniform Commercial Code." No provision of the Uniform Commercial Code purports to govern an HOA foreclosure sale.

Prior to the 2005 amendment, the definition of "good faith" contained in NRS 104.2103(1)(b) stated: "Good faith' **in the case of a merchant** means honesty in fact and the observance of reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing in the trade." (emphasis added) The HOA is not a "merchant," so the former definition of "good faith" in NRS 104.2103(1)(b) could not apply to it.

NRS 104.9109(4)(k) states that Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code does not apply to "[t]he creation or transfer of an interest in or lien on real property" except in four instances. An HOA assessment lien is not one of the four instances. Consequently, the language in NRS 104.9610(2) requiring that "[e]very aspect of a disposition of collateral, including the method, manner, time, place and other terms, must be commercially reasonable" does not apply to the HOA foreclosure sale held in the present case pursuant to NRS 116.31162 through NRS 116.31168 and, by incorporation, NRS 107.090. At page 7 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant cites <u>Jones v. Bank of</u> <u>Nevada</u>, 91 Nev. 368, 535 P.2d 1279 (1975), where this Court affirmed the district court's order finding the sale of a private airplane to be commercially reasonable even though the buyer was able to resell the aircraft for \$52,000 more than the buyer paid at foreclosure. This Court stated that "the price obtained upon sale is not the sole determinative factor." 91 Nev. at 372, 535 P.2d at 1281.

Defendant also cites <u>Will v. Mill Condominium Owners' Association</u>, 176 Vt. 380, 848 A.2d 336 (2004), which recognized that "the rules 'generally applicable to real estate mortgages' do not impose a commercial reasonableness standard on foreclosure sales," but that "the UCIOA does provide for this additional layer of protection." On the other hand, there are substantial differences between Vermont's version of the UCIOA and NRS Chapter 116.

Unlike the nonjudicial foreclosure process provided in NRS 116.31162 to 116.31168, 27A V.S.A. § 3-116(j) in Vermont's version of the UCIOA requires that an association's lien be judicially foreclosed pursuant to 12 V.S.A. chapter 172 or subsection (o) of 27A V.S.A. § 3-116. 27A V.S.A. § 3-116(p) expressly provides that "[e]very aspect of a foreclosure, sale, or other disposition under this section, including the method, time, date, place, and terms, must be commercially reasonable."

Nevada's version of the UCIOA contains no such language.

Vermont's version of the UCIOA also does not contain any statutory language similar to the provision in NRS 116.31166(1) that the recitals in an HOA foreclosure deed "are conclusive proof of the matters recited" or the provision in NRS 116.31166(2) that "[s]uch a deed containing those recitals is conclusive against the unit's former owner, his or her heirs and assigns, **and all other persons**." (emphasis added)

NRS 116.1108 expressly incorporates "the law of real property," but it does not incorporate any part of the Uniform Commercial Code, which was the subject of <u>Dennison v. Allen Group Leasing Corp.</u>, 110 Nev. 181, 871 P.2d 288 (1994), cited at page 8 of Appellant's Opening Brief. In <u>Dennison</u>, this Court stated: We have previously held that **public sales of repossessed equipment** must be commercially reasonable. <u>Savage Constr. v. Challenge-Cook</u>, 102 Nev. 34, 37, 714 P.2d 573, 574 (1986) (construing California Commercial Code § 9504(3)). The conditions of a commercially reasonable sale should reflect a calculated effort to promote a sales price that is equitable to both the debtor and the secured creditor. <u>Id.</u> at 38, 714 P.2d at 575. (emphasis added) 871 P.2d at 291. At the bottom of page 8 and top of page 9 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant quotes from Levers v. Rio King Land & Investment Co., 93 Nev. 95, 560

P.2d 917 (1977), where the secured party entered the only bid to purchase the

appellant's ranch supplies for \$100 at a sale attended only by the secured party and a former employee. There was no evidence that the secured party publicized the sale in any way, and the secured party resold the collateral to a third party for \$10,000. This Court applied NRS 104.9504(3) that required the secured party to "proceed in a commercially reasonable manner to dispose of collateral," and reversed the district court's order setting aside the sale to the third party. This Court instead held that it was sufficient theat the \$10,000 value of the collateral be deducted from the secured party's claim for the \$25,000 balance owed.

In the present case, the HOA and its foreclosure agent complied with every notice requirement in NRS Chapter 116, including mailing a copy of the notice of default to defendant's predecessor and a copy of the notice of foreclosure sale to defendant. The Property was also not sold to the foreclosing HOA, but to a third party entering the high bid at a public auction.

The record on appeal also does not contain any evidence of misconduct by the HOA or its foreclosure agent that destroyed the value of the personal property collateral being sold as took place in <u>Iama Corp. v. Wham</u>, 99 Nev. 730, 669 P.2d 1076 (1983).

3. The foreclosure sale cannot be set aside based solely on a claim that the price paid was grossly inadequate.

At the bottom of page 9 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant cites <u>Shadow</u> <u>Wood Homeowners Association v. New York Community Bank</u>, 132 Nev. Ad. Op. 5, 334 P.3d 408 (2016), but the words "commercially reasonable" do not appear anywhere in the opinion. The opinion also does not discuss or apply any provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code.

This Court instead applied Nevada real property law that requires "proof of some element of fraud, unfairness, or oppression as accounts for and brings about the inadequacy of price." 366 P.3d at 1111 (quoting <u>Golden v. Tomiyasu</u>, 98 Nev. 503, 514, 387 P.2d 989, 995 (1963), <u>cert. denied</u>, 382 U.S. 844 (1965)).

At the top of page 10 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant states that this Court "favorably quoted" from cmt. b to Section 8.3 of the Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages (1997) that "a court is warranted in invalidating a sale where the price is *less than 20 percent* of fair market value." (emphasis by Appellant) At the bottom of page 10 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant claims that the sale price of \$35,000.00 is "just 10% of the unrebutted fair market value of the property at the time of the sale."

On the other hand, the only evidence supporting defendant's claim regarding the fair market value of the Property is a residential appraisal summary report, dated May 4, 2015, that states on page #1: "An extraordinary assumption is made that the interior is in similar condition as the exterior and that the condition was similar at the effective date of this appraisal," and "[t]he use of the extraordinary assumption may have affected the assignment results." (AA1, pg. 101) The "extraordinary assumption" is repeated at page #6 of the report. (AA1, pg. 105) The record on appeal contains no evidence that this "extraordinary assumption" is true.

At page 11 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant cites <u>Shadow Wood</u> as authority that "[b]ecause the sales price was grossly inadequate as a matter of law, Nationstar was not required to show any evidence of 'fraud, unfairness or oppression: in the sale." On the other hand, the "gross inadequacy" test is the exact standard that this Court refused to adopt in Golden v. Tomiyasu:

The court then referred to the inadequacy of the consideration and said: "However, even assuming that the price was inadequate, that fact standing alone would not justify setting aside the trustee's sale. 'In California, **it is a settled rule that inadequacy of price, however gross, is not in itself a sufficient ground for setting aside a trustee's sale** legally made; there must be in addition proof of some element of fraud, unfairness, or oppression as accounts for and brings about the inadequacy of price." Several earlier California cases are cited. (emphasis added)

98 Nev. at 514, 387 P.2d at 994-995.

The reference to Section 8.3 of the Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages

in <u>Shadow Wood</u> was used solely as an example regarding the one factor of

inadequacy of price. This portion of the case must be read in context:

The question remains whether NYCB demonstrated sufficient grounds to justify the district court in setting aside Shadow Wood's foreclosure sale on NYCB's motion for summary judgment. <u>Breliant v.</u> <u>Preferred Equities Corp.</u>, 112 Nev. 663, 669, 918 P.2d 314, 318 (1996) (stating the burden of proof rests with the party seeking to quiet title in its favor). As discussed above, **demonstrating that an association sold a property at its foreclosure sale for an inadequate price is not enough to set aside that sale**; there must also be a showing of fraud, unfairness, or oppression. *Long*, 98 Nev. at 13, 639 P.2d at 530.

NYCB failed to establish that the foreclosure sale price was grossly inadequate as a matter of law.NYCB compares Gogo Way's purchase price, \$11,018.39, to the amount NYCB bought the property for at its foreclosure sale, \$45,900.00. Even using NYCB's purchase price as a comparator, and adding to that sum the \$1,519.29 NYCB admits remained due on the superpriority lien following NYCB's foreclosure sale, Gogo Way's purchase price reflects 23 percent of that amount and is therefore not obviously inadequate. See Golden, 79 Nev. at 511, 387 P.2d at 993 (noting that even where a property was "sold for a smaller proportion of its value than 28.5%," it did not justify setting aside the sale); see also Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages § 8.3 cmt. b (1997) (stating that while "[g]ross inadequacy cannot be precisely defined in terms of a specific percentage of fair market value, glenerally ... a court is warranted in invalidating a sale where the price is less than 20 percent of fair market value and, absent other foreclosure defects, is usually not warranted in invalidating a sale that yields in excess of that amount"). (emphasis added)

366 P.3d at 1112-1113.

If this Court had intended to adopt a rule allowing sales to be set aside based

1

2

solely on a "grossly inadequate" price, this Court would not have cited the California rule found in Long v. Towne just before referring to the Restatement.

In this section of the <u>Shadow Wood</u> opinion, this Court focused only on the burden placed on the former owner that was seeking to overturn the sale that divested it of title. No burden was placed on the purchaser to prove that it paid at least 20% of fair market value at the HOA foreclosure sale. If this Court had intended to abandon the California rule and adopt the Restatement instead, this Court would have said so.

Comment b to section 8.3 of the Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages also distinguishes between a case where the holder of a senior interest purchases the property by a credit bid and a case where a bona fide purchaser buys the property:

On the other hand, where foreclosure is by power of sale, judicial confirmation of the sale is usually not required and the issue of price inadequacy will therefore arise only if the party attacking the sale files an independent judicial action. Typically this will be an action to set aside the sale; it may be brought by the mortgagor, junior lienholders, or the holders of other junior interests who are prejudiced by the sale. **If the real estate is unavailable because title has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser**, the issues of price inadequacy may be raised by the mortgagor or a junior interest holder in a suit against the foreclosing mortgagee for damages for wrongful foreclosure. **This latter remedy, however, is not available based on gross price inadequacy alone.** In addition, the mortgagee must be responsible for a defect in the foreclosure process of the type described in Comment *c* of this section. (emphasis added)

Consequently, by referring to comment b to §8.3 of the Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages, this Court did not adopt any requirement that an HOA foreclosure sale be "commercially reasonable," and this Court did not state that "gross inadequacy" of price alone can justify equitable relief setting aside the sale. Instead, where the property has been sold to a bona fide purchaser as happened here, the holder of a junior interest is limited to an action for damages against the foreclosing mortgagee. In Shadow Wood, this Court also specifically addressed the impact of a bank's failure to take action to protect its interests: Against these inconsistencies, however, must be weighed NYCB's (in)actions. The NOS was recorded on January 27, 2012, and the sale did not occur until February 22, 2012. NYCB knew the sale had been scheduled and that it disputed the lien amount, yet it did not attend the sale, request arbitration to determine the amount owed, or seek to enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed. The NOS included a warning as required by NRS 116.311635(3)(b): A SALE OF YOUR PROPERTY IS IMMINENT! WARNING! UNLESS YOU PAY THE AMOUNT SPECIFIED IN THIS NOTICE BEFORE THE SALE DATE, YOU COULD LOSE YOUR HOME, EVEN IF THE AMOUNT IS IN DISPUTE. YOU MUST ACT BEFORE THE SALE DATE. 366 P.3d at 1114. The notice of foreclosure sale in the present case included this same warning

at the top of the first page of the notice (AA1, pg. 207). Despite receiving a copy of

the notice and the warning on December 3, 2013 (AA1, pg. 216), defendant chose not to pay the superpriority amount or take any action to stop the HOA foreclosure sale from being held thirty (30) days later on January 2, 2014.

At the bottom of page 11 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant argues that "the foreclosure sale took place more than 3 years after the lien became due, in violation of NRS 116.3116(5)." NRS 116.3116(6), as the statute existed at the time of the sale, did not set a time limit for the foreclosure sale to take place in relation to the date of the notice of lien – NRS 116.3116(6) instead only required that the nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding by "instituted within 3 years after the full amount of the assessments becomes due." The earliest assessment reflected on the first page of the payment allocation report (AA1, pg. 83) fell due on January 1, 2010. The foreclosure process was "instituted" when the foreclosure agent mailed the lien for delinquent assessments to the unit owner on April 29, 2010, which is well within the 3 year time limit. (AA1, pgs. 188-190)

Defendant also asserts that the notice of foreclosure sale did not state "[t]he amount necessary to satisfy the lien as of the date of the proposed sale" as required by NRS 116.311635(3)(a), but the notice of foreclosure sale did state the total amount of the lien "of **\$8,005.16** as of 11/26/2013." (AA1, pg. 208) Defendant also objects that the notice of default was not signed "by the person designated in the CC&Rs to do so" or by the HOA president, but NRS 116.31162(2) states that the notice may also be signed by the person designated "by the association for that purpose." The record on appeal does not contain any evidence disputing the authority of Yvette Thomas of Red Rock Financial Services to sign the notice of default. (AA1, pg. 205)

At page 12 of Appellant's Opening Brief, defendant raises a new argument that "district courts must consider the equities when addressing HOA foreclosure sales." Defendant did not raise this equitable claim in its motion for summary judgment (AA1, pgs. 12-132), in its reply (AA2, pgs. 241-256), or in its supplemental brief on procedural due process and commercial reasonableness. (AA2, pg. 274 to AA4, pg. 700)

Arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered. <u>Old</u> <u>Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown</u>, 97 Nev. 49, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

NRS 116.31166(1) provides that "[t]he recitals in a deed made pursuant to NRS 116.31164" are "conclusive proof of the matters recited." NRS 116.31166(2) provides that "[s]uch a deed containing those recitals is conclusive against the unit's former owner, his or her heirs and assigns, **and all other persons**." (emphasis added)

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